THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 01 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000838  
Case No. 2016-CP-46-3181

---

Rita Pratt, Individually and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of  
William Pratt, Deceased,.....

Respondent,

v.

Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center; Jaleesa  
Heyward, RN; South Carolina Emergency Physicians, LLC; Jonas Varaly,  
D.O.; Rock Hill Radiology Associates, LLC; and Geoffrey T. Gilleland,  
M.D.,.....

Defendants,

Of Which, Rock Hill Radiology Associates, LLC, and Geoffrey T.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellant's directed verdict and JNOV motions as to the survival claim and loss of consortium claim where the jury's verdict clearly demonstrates that the Respondent failed to prove the element of proximate cause?
- II. Did the trial court err in not granting a new trial absolute where the jury's verdict was ambiguous and strongly indicative of juror confusion?
- III. Did the trial court err in requiring the jury to allocate fault between the Appellants and in upholding an allocation of ten percent fault to the practice which may only be held vicariously at fault?
- IV. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for new trial absolute where the verdict of \$640,000 on the loss of consortium claim is grossly excessive?
- V. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' directed verdicts and JNOV motions on the issue of gross negligence, recklessness, willfulness, and wantonness?
- VI. Did the trial court err in permitting Anthony Lupetin, M.D., the Respondent's expert radiologist, to testify that the conduct of the Appellants constitutes "recklessness," which is a legal conclusion drawn by applying law to the facts?
- VII. Did the trial court err in failing to reduce the verdict based on the non-economic damages cap of \$431,865.00?
- VIII. Did the trial court err in failing to grant a set-off for the Amisub settlement based on the allocations announced to the trial court when the settlement was placed on the record but rather allowed the Respondent to alter those allocations after knowing the jury's verdict?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a medical malpractice case. On October 28, 2016, the Respondent Rita Pratt, individually and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of William Pratt, filed a Complaint against the Appellants Geoffrey T. Gilleland and Rock Hill Radiology Associates, LLC. The Complaint includes causes of action for wrongful death, survival, and loss of consortium. (R. 28-29). The Respondent alleges that the Appellants were negligent in "failing to notify Mr. Pratt's treating physicians of the concerning CT Scan results." (R. 27). The Respondent further alleges that "Dr. Gilleland was acting within the course and scope of his employment and/or agency relationship with Rock Hill Radiology." (R. 25-26).

By Order filed March 6, 2017, the trial court consolidated this action with another action brought by the Respondent against the Defendants Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center ("Amisub"), Jaleesa Heyward, RN, South Carolina Emergency Physicians, LLC, and Jonas Varaly, D.O. (R. 18-19).

After the completion of discovery, the case proceeded to trial on February 3, 2020, before Circuit Court Judge Daniel D. Hall and a York County jury. The Appellants moved for a directed verdict at the close of the Respondent's case-in-chief and at the close of the evidence. During the trial, the Defendant Amisub reached a settlement with the Respondent in the amount of \$250,000. (R. 7-11, 565). On February 10, 2020, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Dr. Varaly on all claims, in favor of the Appellants on the wrongful death claim only, and in favor of the Respondent on the survival and loss of consortium claims. The jury allocated fault as ninety percent to Dr. Gilleland and ten percent to Rock Hill Radiology. The jury awarded actual damages of \$360,000 on the survival claim and \$640,000 on the loss of consortium claim. (R. 3-5).

The Appellants thereafter filed post trial motions including for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV), or alternatively, a new trial absolute. In the alternative, the Appellants also moved for a set-off of the settlement reached by the Respondent with Amisub during the trial and a reduction of the verdict based upon the cap on non-economic damages in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-220. (R. 52-65).

The trial court did not hold a hearing on the post-trial motions. Instead, the trial court issued a Form Order filed May 4, 2020, denying the JNOV and new trial absolute motions. The trial court granted a set-off of \$83,333.33 each for the survival claim and the loss of consortium claim. (R. 12-14). The Appellants then filed a Rule 59(e) motion. (R. 125-129). After a hearing held on June 11, 2020, the trial court issued a Form Order on July 6, 2020, denying the Rule 59(e) motion. (R. 15-17).

The Appellants thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2014, the decedent William Pratt was diagnosed with liver cancer, and by September 2014, he had been diagnosed with Stage IV carcinoma with metastasis into the adrenal gland. (R. 26, 263, 242). The decedent also had a history of Hepatitis C and cirrhosis. (R. 349, 583). He also had a diagnosis of a compression fracture at C-2 in his cervical spine. (R. 284, 858).

The decedent and his wife, Rita Pratt, who were Florida residents, were visiting and staying with their daughter in Rock Hill, South Carolina in March 2015. In the early morning hours of March 2, 2015, the decedent fell down a flight of stairs. (R. 26). The only visible injury was a laceration to the head. (R. 858-859). He was transported by ambulance to Piedmont Medical Center. He was seen in the Emergency Department by the Defendant Jonas Varaly, D.O., complaining of rib pain and head pain. (R. 521).

The CT scans of the cervical spine, chest, and brain were initially read by Virtual Radiology as negative. Subsequent readings by the radiology staff as to the cervical spine and head were the same. (R. 878-881). The Appellant Geoffrey Gilleland read the chest CT scan as showing nine non-displaced rib fractures. He also noted metastatic sternal lesion and emphysema and a large adrenal mass. Dr. Gilleland's reading was reported at 8:22 a.m. (R. 879-880). The decedent had been discharged at 6:52 a.m. (R. 865). He had been given a prescription for Percocet with instructions to follow up with Carolina Ortho Surgery Associates within two to three days. Dr. Gilleland's reading of nine non-displaced rib fractures was placed in the records but was not called in to the Emergency Department. While referred to as rib fractures, it is undisputed among the parties that that there were no cracks in any rib, no fracture lines in any rib, no breaks or separation in any cortical line of any rib, and no bone separation in any rib. (R. 204-207).

The decedent spent the next 36 hours at his daughter's home on the sofa. On the morning of March 4, 2015, he was seen at the Emergency Department at Carolinas Medical Center-Pineville complaining of difficulty walking, chest pain, and back pain. (R. 581). A chest CT scan on March 4th reported non-displaced bilateral antral lateral rib fractures with no evidence of underlying pneumothorax or pleural effusions. A CT scan of the lumbar spine on that same date revealed an acute fracture of the L-1 vertebral body with approximately 30% loss of vertebral body height. (R. 579). A CT scan of the chest on that same date showed that his lungs were hypoventilated with resulting aspiration that resulted in mild to moderate bibasilar vascular atelectasis. A later CT scan of the chest on March 4th showed no pneumothorax or pleural effusions. (R. 381-383). The decedent was transferred to Carolinas Medical Center. There was no mention on his admission of pneumonia. Pneumonia was diagnosed on the evening of March 7, 2015. (R. 385). Thereafter, on March 16, 2015, the decedent went into respiratory distress followed by renal failure. He was discharged to palliative care on March 21, 2015, where he passed away on March 23, 2015. (R. 27).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court "may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *Id.*

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, [appellate courts] may only correct errors of law. The factual findings of the jury will not be disturbed unless no evidence reasonably supports the jury's findings." *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135, 142 (2010).

"Whether to grant a new trial is a matter within the discretion of the trial judge, and this decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless it is unsupported by the evidence or is controlled by an error of law." *Austin*, 691 S.E.2d at 149. "Verdicts which are irreconcilably inconsistent should not stand, and a new trial should be granted, because the parties and the judge should not be required to guess as to what a jury sought to render." *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

**I. The trial court erred in denying the Appellant's directed verdict and JNOV motions as to the survival claim and loss of consortium claim where the jury's verdict clearly demonstrates that the Respondent failed to prove the element of proximate cause.**

The Respondent alleges that the Appellants were negligent for Dr. Geoffrey Gilleland's failure to call in the discrepancies he found when he overread the decedent's chest CT scan and noted non-displaced rib fractures on March 2, 2015. The Respondent contends a reporting of those discrepancies should have resulted in the decedent being hospitalized on that day. There is, however, no evidence that the failure to admit the decedent to the hospital on March 2, 2015, proximately caused any injuries to the decedent. Most important to this analysis, the jury ultimately returned a defense verdict on the wrongful death claim. (R. 4). The Respondent's theory of liability was that the decedent developed pneumonia because of the delay in hospitalizing him and the pneumonia then proximately caused his death. (R. 384-385). However, with its defense verdict, the jury actually found that the Appellants' breach of the standard of care did not result in the decedent's death. Thus, it logically follows that the Appellants' alleged negligence did not cause the pneumonia that resulted in his death.

As the verdict form reflects, the jury found that the breach of the standard of care "was the proximate cause of Mr. William Pratt's injuries." (R. 3). The jury was never asked and thus did not find that the breach of the standard of care was the proximate cause of Mr. Pratt's *death*. The jury was correctly charged that the Respondent had the burden of proving that the Appellants' negligence proximately caused the death. (R. 768). Further, the jury was correctly charged that the damages in a wrongful death action are sustained by the statutory beneficiaries. (R. 768-769). On the verdict form, the jury returned a monetary amount for the survival action

and the loss of consortium claim, but then left the wrongful death action as blank. The jury did not even place zero dollars in that space. (R. 4). That verdict cannot be logically construed as the jury's determination that the Respondent failed to prove damages for the wrongful death.

The jury was charged as to the elements of damages recoverable for wrongful death. The jury was charged that the damages must be sustained by the statutory beneficiaries. (R. 767, 769). Many of those elements of damages are the same as may be claimed by the spouse during the decedent's lifetime as part of the consortium claim. (R. 771). The jury found a loss of consortium by Rita Pratt prior to her spouse's death, and as a result, it would not be logical to then conclude that the Respondent failed to prove a similar loss of society, support, and companionship after death. Further, loss of consortium explicitly does not include damages for grief and sorrow, which are significant elements of damages recoverable for wrongful death.

Based on this record, it is illogical to conclude that the Respondent individually proved a loss of society, support, and companionship but then, as the Personal Representative, she failed to prove damages for the same elements as well as grief and sorrow. That interpretation of the verdict defies common sense and the evidence in the record. Instead, the only logical explanation for the jury's verdict is a defense verdict based on the issue of proximate cause. In effect, the jury found that the breach of the standard of care did not proximately cause the decedent's death.

The case of *Hoard v. Roper Hospital, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 539, 694 S.E.2d 1 (2010), is instructive on the issue of proximate cause. In that case, the plaintiffs argued that a radiologist breached the standard of care by failing to properly report that a catheter inserted in an infant was "malpositioned" or use some language in his report to indicate that the placement of the catheter was incorrect. There was no evidence that the radiologist misread the chest x-ray. The

plaintiffs' theory was simply that the radiologist should have done a better job of communicating his findings. However, the undisputed evidence showed that the neonatologist fully understood that the placement of the catheter was not optimal, but he made a clinical decision not to move it.

In affirming summary judgment for the radiologist, the Supreme Court explained:

Dr. Smith correctly contends the record fails to establish that a genuine question of material fact exists regarding whether his alleged failure to act within the standard of care could have been a proximate cause of Jamia's cardiac arrest and subsequent injuries. This is so because the record demonstrates that Dr. Goldstein was aware of the standard of care concerning UVC placement and he made an intentional and independent decision not to move the UVC based on numerous factors.

694 S.E.2d at 5. The Supreme Court thus concluded that the plaintiffs had failed to present any evidence that the radiologist's alleged breach of the standard of care in his reporting was a proximate cause of the infant's injuries. In effect, there was no evidence presented that the care or treatment received by the patient would have been different.

The same is true in the present case where the evidence does not permit a finding that the Appellants caused the non-displaced rib fractures. That injury resulted from the decedent's fall on March 2, 2015. The Appellants obviously did not cause the fall. Moreover, there was no allegation made nor evidence presented that the Appellants missed the L1 vertebrae fracture that did not show on the CT scan from March 2, 2015. Then, what injury did the Appellants cause? At worst, the Appellants caused a two day delay in the diagnosis of the rib injury, but there is no evidence that the rib injury would have been treated any differently in those two days. (R. 640-641). Specifically, to the extent that the rib injury was causing pain, the decedent was prescribed pain medication prior to his discharge from Piedmont Medical Center. Thus, there was no other treatment for the rib injury that would have begun two days earlier, and there is no evidence that the decedent's pain or other possible symptoms related directly to the rib injury would have been alleviated or lessened.

Consequently, the Respondent failed to sustain her burden of proving that the alleged negligence by the Appellants proximately caused any injury to the decedent, and as a result, the Appellants were entitled to a JNOV on the survival claim. The trial court erred in denying that JNOV.

Moreover, because the trial court should have granted a JNOV on the survival claim, the loss of consortium claim fails as well. In *Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Limited Partnership*, 334 S.C. 96, 512 S.E.2d 510, 523 (Ct. App. 1999), the Court of Appeals explained that "[i]n order to prevail in an action for loss of consortium, a plaintiff must prove the defendant's *liability* for the spouse's injuries, as well as damages to the plaintiff resulting from the spouse's injury." 512 S.E.2d at 523. (Emphasis added). Similarly, in *Lee v. Bunch*, 373 S.C. 654, 647 S.E. 2d 197 (2007), the Supreme Court held that "[g]enerally, a plaintiff spouse's claim for loss of consortium fails if the impaired spouse's claim fails, whether the claim is considered separate and independent from the impaired spouse's claim or derivative in nature." 647 S.E.2d at 202. Thus, because the Respondent failed to prove the Appellants were liable on the injured spouse's claim, Rita Pratt's individual claim for loss of consortium fails on that same basis.

**II. The trial court erred in not granting a new trial absolute where the jury's verdict was ambiguous and strongly indicative of juror confusion.**

Alternatively, if the Court concludes that the defense verdict on the wrongful death claim was not based on the issue of proximate cause, the Respondents submit that the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that "[v]erdicts which are irreconcilably inconsistent should not stand, and a new trial should be granted, because the parties and the judge should not be required to guess as to what a jury sought to render." *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135, 149 (2010). The Supreme Court has explained: "A jury verdict should be

upheld when it is possible to do so and carry into effect the jury's clear intention. However, when a verdict is so confused that the jury's intent is unclear, the safest and best course is to order a new trial." *Vinson v. Jackson*, 327 S.C. 290, 491 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1997). *See also*, *Anderson v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 175 S.C. 254, 178 S.E. 830 (1934) ("But when the verdict is so confused that it is not absolutely clear what was intended, the court should order a new trial").

The Respondent argued in response to post-trial motions that any challenges to the verdict have been waived because the jury has been discharged. The trial court is not permitted, however, to accept an ambiguous or confusing verdict simply because the jury was discharged. The Supreme Court's decision in *Vinson*, *supra*, makes that very point. In that case, the jury was discharged without an objection by either side, after which a new trial motion was made and denied by the trial judge. On appeal, the Supreme Court explained that "[o]nce the jury in a civil case is discharged, the trial judge has little power to correct or amend a jury's verdict which, on its face, is *unambiguous*." *Vinson*, 491 S.E.2d at 250. (Emphasis added). However, where the verdict is ambiguous, the Supreme Court is quite clear that the verdict may not be allowed to stand. In *Vinson*, the Supreme Court found that "[t]he verdict is internally inconsistent and unexplainable" and "accordingly, the appropriate remedy on appeal is to grant a new trial." *Id.*

The Supreme Court has also addressed a similar issue raised by the verdict in this case. In *Stevens v. Allen*, 342 S.C. 47, 536 S.E.2d 663 (2000), the Supreme Court held that "[a] verdict assessing liability against the defendant but awarding the plaintiff zero damages is inconsistent and contrary to South Carolina law." 536 S.E.2d at 666. In that case, the jury found the defendant liable in a wrongful death action but awarded zero damages. Like the Respondent in the present case, the defendant in *Stevens* urged the Supreme Court to "find the jury's verdict reflective of its determination that the plaintiffs failed to prove any damages." 536 S.E.2d at

665. The Supreme Court “decline[d] to adopt this view. Such a holding is inconsistent both with the jury’s assessment of liability and with South Carolina case law.” *Id.* The Supreme Court further explained:

It is simply inconsistent with South Carolina law for this Court to attempt to construe the verdict as an indication that the jury found the plaintiffs failed to prove damages. If, in fact, the jury believed the Stevens had failed to prove any damages, then its verdict should have been for the defendants.

*Id.*<sup>1</sup>

In the present case, the Respondent attempted to justify the jury’s verdict on the wrongful death claim by asserting -- based on pure supposition -- that the jury found for the Respondent on proximate cause but nonetheless found that the Respondent failed to prove wrongful death damages. That is precisely the rationale that was rejected by the Supreme Court in *Stevens*, and as explained above is exceedingly illogical. In fact, this case presents an even stronger repudiation of that argument because, while *Stevens* involved a zero damages award, in the present case, the jury left the damages space blank and made no finding of liability for wrongful death.

In sum, because of the special interrogatories actually posed in the verdict form, the only logical interpretation is a defense verdict on the wrongful death claim. However, there does appear to be a lack of clarity leaving the trial court (and this Court on appeal) to guess as to the

---

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