RECEIVED

May 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000838

Rita Pratt, Individually and Respondent,
as the Personal Representative
of the Estate of William Pratt,
deceased,

v.

Amisub of South Carolina, Inc.
d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center;
Jaleesa Heyward, RN; South
Carolina Emergency Physicians,
LLC; Jonas Varaly, DO; Rock
Hill Radiology Associates, LLC;
and Geoffrey T. Gilleland, MD, Defendants,

Of which Rock Hill Radiology
Associates LLC and Geoffrey T.
Gilleland, MD are the Appellants.

INITIAL RESPONDENT’S BRIEF

Chad A. McGowan

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

That is effectively what Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland seek here. When the jury’s verdict was published, defense counsel was immediately given an opportunity to object but chose not to. (Tr. 928, line 24 – 929, line 4). Since Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland attorney waived this opportunity, the circuit court discharged the jury. (Tr. 929, lines 5-25). While Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland may argue they later requested ten days to file post-trial motions (Tr. 930, lines 7-9), that request came *after* the jury was discharged and it could not include any motion related to alleged verdict inconsistency. Stringfellow, 427 S.C. at 242, 830 S.E.2d at 720 (motion based on allegedly inconsistent verdict is “forever lost” if made after jury is discharged). Allowing Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland to assert a belated challenge to the verdict and granting them a new trial would make bad policy and bad precedent. See Dykema, 348 S.C. at 554, 560 S.E.2d at 896 (holding that a party “should not be permitted to sit idly by while a verdict erroneous in form is being returned and witness its receipt without objection and later, after the jury has been discharged, claim advantage of the error, this invited by acquiescence”).

Precedent cited in their brief demonstrates the process Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland were required to follow. (Appellants’ Br. at 11-12) (citing Stevens v. Allen, 342 S.C. 47,

536 S.E.2d 663 (2000)). Stevens affirmed this Court’s holding that, “*upon request*, the trial court should have resubmitted the matter to the jury” with further instructions to resolved the perceived inconsistency. 342 S.C. at 49, 536 S.E.2d at 664 (emphasis added). The appellate courts only considered the possibility of a full new trial because the aggrieved party moved for resubmission before the jury was discharged, and the circuit court denied the motion. Id. In fact, Stevens’s requirement of a pre-jury discharge objection has been recognized as a guiding principle for addressing allegedly inconsistent verdicts. See Dykema, 348 S.C. at 554, 560 S.E.2d at 896 (reading Stevens to hold that a circuit court should take action on an inconsistent verdict by resubmitting to the jury only “**when the issue is raised**” before the jury is discharged) (emphasis in original).

Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland would have the court look past the Stevens requirement, its reiteration by the Supreme Court in Dykema, and this court’s recent statement in Stringfellow in favor of a single older, isolated precedent to hold that a timely objection was not required to obtain a full new trial. Appellants’ Br. at 11 (citing Vinson v. Jackson, 327 S.C. 290, 491 S.E.2d 249 (1997)). However, Vinson is not the Supreme Court’s most up-to-date statement on the matter, and condoning an untimely verdict challenge would create significant judicial inefficiencies by creating the possibility of a second full trial when a timely objection and resubmission of the issue to the jury would address any inconsistency concerns. Plus, Vinson even recognized a trial court has little power to address an allegedly defective verdict once the objecting party has allowed the jury to be discharged. 327 S.C. at 293, 491 S.E.2d at 250. Rather than contorting Vinson to sanction Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland’s belated verdict inconsistency argument, the court should follow the Supreme Court’s unambiguous post-Vinson principle from Dykema: a party who believes a verdict is inconsistent may not allow the jury to be

discharged without objecting in hopes of later gaining a reversal on appeal. 348 S.C. at 553, 560 S.E.2d at 896.

Even if the Court were to reach its merits, the verdict inconsistency argument fails. Whether to grant Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland a new trial was a matter directed to the circuit court's discretion. Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Co., 387 S.C. 22, 49, 681 S.E.2d 135, 149 (2010) (citing Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 403, 477 S.E.2d 715, 722 (Ct. App. 1996)). When Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland raised their belated verdict inconsistency argument, the circuit court had a duty to sustain the jury's findings so long as "a logical reason for reconciling them can be found." Rhodes v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 249 S.C. 526, 530, 155 S.E.2d 308, 310 (1967). A new trial should not be granted unless a verdict is "irreconcilably inconsistent." Prego v. Hobart, 287 S.C. 116, 118, 336 S.E.2d 725, 726 (Ct. App. 1985).

The jury's verdict in this case is not inconsistent. The verdict form included single questions on the breach and proximate cause elements of Ms. Pratt's three negligence-based claims. (Verdict Form at 1, Questions No. 1-2). The jury was then asked in a single question to state the amount of any damages for each of the three claims. (Verdict Form at 2, Question No. 3). Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's brief does not suggest they objected to this portion of the verdict form. Thus, if the jury found any of the three claims lacking based only on the damage element, the sole and proper way to deliver that finding was to leave blank the damages line for that particular claim.

That is the verdict the jury rendered here. Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland each recklessly violated their legal duties and proximately caused some but not all the harm Ms. Pratt alleged. Interpreting the verdict this way is consistent with the arguments made at trial. Ms. Pratt's counsel requested \$ 5 million in damages (Tr. 111), and, finding only a portion of the losses should

be awarded, the jury returned a \$ 1 million verdict. The cases on which Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland rely are very different. The Vinson verdict was deemed “internally inconsistent and unexplainable” because the jury returned that expressly stated “We . . . find for the defendant” while awarding an amount that could have only corresponded to damages sought in the plaintiff’s claim. 327 S.C. at 292, 491 S.E.2d at 250.⁴ All Vinson stands for is the notion that it is “internally inconsistent” for a verdict to expressly state the jury “finds for” one party while also making an award that could only mean a finding for the opposing party. That situation does not exist here. The jury never claimed to “find for” Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland while also purporting to award Ms. Pratt damages. Instead, the jury consistently found Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland were guilty of reckless misconduct but simply chose to award only a portion of the damages Ms. Pratt sought.

Stevens also presented a different situation. In that case, the jury considered wrongful death and survival claims on behalf of a teenage passenger who died when an underage intoxicated driver drove a vehicle into a creek. 342 S.C. at 49, 536 S.E.2d at 663. In a suit against the driver and his mother, the jury found both defendants liable but then awarded zero damages on *both* the wrongful death and survival claims. Id. Thus, all Stevens held is that a verdict is inconsistent when it finds liability but awards zero damages on all claims asserted. 342 S.C. at 52, 536 S.E.2d at 665. That, too, is not the situation presented here. The jury unambiguously found Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland liable and then awarded a total of \$ 1 million dollars in damages on some, but not all, of the claims Ms. Pratt alleged. That verdict is not inconsistent under Vinson and Stevens or any other South Carolina precedent.

⁴ The defendant in Vinson had alleged a counterclaim but the verdict could not have intended to award damages on the counterclaim because it sought only property damages claim and the award was for more than five times what the defendant requested. 327 S.C. at 292, 491 S.E.2d at 250.

Finally, even assuming Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's verdict inconsistency argument was timely and valid, they still have not shown why a new trial is warranted. Their brief devotes so much focus to Ms. Pratt's wrongful death claim even though judgment was only entered against Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland on the survival and loss of consortium claims. In other words, Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland have not shown any prejudice from the alleged verdict inconsistency and, for all these reasons, the circuit court correctly refused to order a new trial. See Steele v. Dillard, 327 S.C. 340, 343, 486 S.E.2d 278, 279 (Ct. App. 1997) (finding objecting party failed to establish it was prejudiced by trial court's failure to include a special interrogatory in verdict form); Rule 61, SCRCP (stating that no error or defect in any ruling or order is grounds for a new trial unless it "affect[s] the substantial rights of the parties").

3. Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's challenge to the verdict form's fault allocation question is untimely, was waived at trial, and is not supported by the evidence.

Mr. Pratt's pain and suffering as well as Ms. Pratt's loss of consortium damages were not just the product of Dr. Gilleland's failure to communicate to Mr. Pratt's treating physicians the substantial discrepancy between the initial and later interpretations of the March 2nd chest CT. Those losses would also have been avoided had the initial read by the company Rock Hill Radiology chose to hire (Virtual Radiology) not been so grossly inaccurate. Therefore, the evidence and arguments presented at trial fully support the circuit court's decision to list Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland separately on the verdict form for fault allocation purposes. Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's challenge to this portion of the verdict form was not made in a timely fashion at trial. Moreover, their attorney expressly told the circuit court Ms. Pratt was free to argue Rock Hill Radiology was liable for Virtual Radiology's errors, and counsel chose not to object as Ms. Pratt's lawyers repeatedly made this argument to the jury.

As with Argument No. 2, preservation issues should prevent the Court from reaching the merits of the challenge to the verdict form's fault allocation question. If Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland believed the verdict form was flawed, they had a duty to make an objection on the record before the form was submitted to the jury. Gause v. Smithers, 403 S.C. 140, 151, 742 S.E.2d 644, 650 (2013); Johnson v. Hoechst Celanese Corp., 317 S.C. 415, 421, 453 S.E.2d 908, 912 (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that by failing to object to a verdict form until after the verdict had been reached, a party failed to preserve any issue related to the verdict form); Hollis v. Armour & Co., 190 S.C. 170, 2 S.E.2d 681, 685 (1939) (finding objection that came for first time on motion for new trial "came too late and must be deemed to have been waived"). The trial transcript shows the circuit court held an in chambers conference with each party's counsel on proposed jury charges and the verdict form. (Tr. 779, lines 8-10). Once back in the courtroom, the parties were asked to place on the record any challenges to the charges and verdict form. Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's counsel objected to one proposed charge (Tr. 781, lines 12-20) but voiced no complaints regarding the fault allocation question or any other portion of the verdict form. After the jury charge was completed, the parties were given a second opportunity to make any motions related to the charges and verdict form. Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's counsel reiterated its challenge to one jury charge but otherwise made no objections. (Tr. 909, lines 23-24). Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's brief does not reference any on-the-record objection to the verdict form's fault allocation question that would permit them to raise that issue on appeal.

Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland also consistently failed to object to Ms. Pratt's arguments faulting Rock Hill Radiology for Virtual Radiology's errors. During Ms. Pratt's closing argument, her attorney made the following statement to the jury:

Now, let's go to standard of care violations by
Rock Hill Radiology, because you'll see on the verdict form

there are two separate Defendants; Dr. Gilleland and Rock Hill Radiology. So, what if someone asks you in the deliberation room, well, was there a standard of care violation by Rock Hill Radiology? Remind them about Virtual Radiology's misread in the middle of the night.

Everybody agreed that Virtual Radiology messed up; they didn't catch the fractures that Dr. Gilleland caught just a few hours later. Should they bring that up, you remind them of that. If there's any – any issue at all about whether Rock Hill Radiology had a standard of care problem.

If you all get together and talk and you -- you say to yourself that Dr. Gilleland was negligent or you say that Virtual Radiology is negligent, then you must also find against Rock Hill Radiology; that's going to be the law.

(Tr. 807, line 23 – 808, line 14). Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland offered no objection to this argument. Then, during Ms. Pratt's rebuttal argument, her counsel told the jury as follows:

Number 3, Dr. Gilleland should have picked up the phone, and I'm going to use his words, and call it in, the nine non-displaced rib fractures, because those were significant to Dr. Varaly, and had Dr. Varaly known about it, Mr. Pratt would have gone to a trauma hospital.

And then finally, had Virtual Radiology caught the fractures and put them in their report while Mr. Pratt was still at Piedmont Medical Center, Mr. Pratt would have ended up going to a trauma facility.

(Tr. 884, lines 12-20) (emphasis added). Here again, Mr. Pratt argued distinct liability for Rock Hill Radiology based on Virtual Radiology's error and Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland raised no objection to the argument. Similarly, no objection was raised when the circuit court reviewed the verdict form with the jury and charged jurors they were permitted to find liability against "each Defendant," that they could allocate fault "for each of the Defendants," and that the jury "would have the three Defendants, you would assign a percentage of fault to those three." (Tr. 906, lines 9-21). Minutes later, Rock Hill Radiology was given an opportunity to offer objections and none was raised as to the verdict form or this pertinent portion of the jury charge. (Tr. 909).

Thus, the current challenge to the verdict form's Question No. 2 was not raised and ruled on at the trial court, rendering it unpreserved for appeal.

Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland offered no objection to these argument/charges perhaps because their attorney had expressly stated earlier in the trial that Ms. Pratt was permitted to argue Rock Hill Radiology was liable for Virtual Radiology's error. During an argument over the possible admission of Rock Hill Radiology's contract with Virtual Radiology, Ms. Pratt argued the contract was admissible evidence to support Ms. Pratt's claim that "Virtual [Radiology] is the responsibility of Rock Hill [Radiology], because they're the ones that hired them . . ." (Tr. 540, line 25 – 541, line 1). In response, Rock Hill Radiology conceded, "***They can argue that.***" (Tr. 541, line 3) (emphasis added). This was a crucial concession from the moment it was made. The circuit court immediately acknowledged it as a concession. (Tr. 541, lines 8-9) ("He's indicating you are free to argue that, he's not going to object to that argument"). It is disingenuous for Rock Hill Radiology to argue on appeal that the jury should not have been able to consider Rock Hill Radiology's fault for Virtual Radiology's error when Rock Hill Radiology's counsel affirmed to the circuit court that this was a permissible argument.

What's more, this concession fatally undermines Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's argument that faulting Rock Hill Radiology for Virtual Radiology's error impermissibly extends beyond the claims Ms. Pratt pled in her complaint. (Appellants' Br. at 14-15). Virtual Radiology's error was not omitted from the complaint. (Compl. ¶ 7). More importantly, even if the complaint did not spell out Rock Hill Radiology's liability for this error in great detail, any "issues not raised by the pleadings [that] are tried by express or implied consent of the parties . . . shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings." Rule 15(b), SCRCP. The concession by Rock Hill Radiology and Dr. Gilleland's during the trial is overwhelming proof Rock Hill

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